

A Service of



Leibniz-Informationszentrum Wirtschaft Leibniz Information Centre

Vijayabaskar, M.; Balagopal, Gayathri

Working Paper

The politics of poverty alleviation strategies in India

UNRISD Working Paper, No. 2019-7

Provided in Cooperation with:

United Nations Research Institute for Social Development (UNRISD), Geneva

Suggested Citation: Vijayabaskar, M.; Balagopal, Gayathri (2019): The politics of poverty alleviation strategies in India, UNRISD Working Paper, No. 2019-7, United Nations Research Institute for Social Development (UNRISD), Geneva

This Version is available at: https://hdl.handle.net/10419/246232

Standard-Nutzungsbedingungen:

Die Dokumente auf EconStor dürfen zu eigenen wissenschaftlichen Zwecken und zum Privatgebrauch gespeichert und kopiert werden.

Sie dürfen die Dokumente nicht für öffentliche oder kommerzielle Zwecke vervielfältigen, öffentlich ausstellen, öffentlich zugänglich machen, vertreiben oder anderweitig nutzen.

Sofern die Verfasser die Dokumente unter Open-Content-Lizenzen (insbesondere CC-Lizenzen) zur Verfügung gestellt haben sollten, gelten abweichend von diesen Nutzungsbedingungen die in der dort genannten Lizenz gewährten Nutzungsrechte.

Terms of use:

Documents in EconStor may be saved and copied for your personal and scholarly purposes.

You are not to copy documents for public or commercial purposes, to exhibit the documents publicly, to make them publicly available on the internet, or to distribute or otherwise use the documents in public.

If the documents have been made available under an Open Content Licence (especially Creative Commons Licences), you may exercise further usage rights as specified in the indicated licence.





Working Paper 2019-7

The Politics of Poverty Alleviation Strategies in India

M Vijayabaskar Gayathri Balagopal

Research report prepared for the UNRISD project New Directions in Social Policy: Alternatives from and for the Global South

December 2019



The United Nations Research Institute for Social Development (UNRISD) is an autonomous research institute within the UN system that undertakes multidisciplinary research and policy analysis on the social dimensions of contemporary development issues. Through our work we aim to ensure that social equity, inclusion and justice are central to development thinking, policy and practice.

UNRISD, Palais des Nations 1211 Geneva 10, Switzerland

Tel: +41 (0)22 9173020 info.unrisd@un.org www.unrisd.org

Copyright © United Nations Research Institute for Social Development

This is not a formal UNRISD publication. The responsibility for opinions expressed in signed studies rests solely with their author(s), and availability on the UNRISD website (www.unrisd.org) does not constitute an endorsement by UNRISD of the opinions expressed in them. No publication or distribution of these papers is permitted without the prior authorization of the author(s), except for personal use.

Introduction to Working Papers for New Directions in Social Policy: Alternatives from and for the Global South

This paper is part of a series of outputs from the research project New Directions in Social Policy: Alternatives from and for the Global South.

The project examines the emergence, nature and effectiveness of recent developments in social policy in emerging economies and developing countries. The purpose is to understand whether these are fundamentally new approaches to social policy or welfare systems which could offer alternative solutions to the critical development challenges facing low- and middle-income countries in the twenty-first century. This research aims to shed light on the policy options and choices of emerging/developing countries; how economic, social, political and institutional arrangements can be designed to achieve better social outcomes given the challenges of the contemporary development context; how the values and norms of human rights, equity, sustainability and social justice can be operationalized through "new" social policies; and how experiences, knowledge and learning about innovative approaches can be shared among countries in the South. For further information on the project visit www.unrisd.org/ndsp.. This project is funded by the Swedish International Development Cooperation Agency (Sida).

Working Papers for New Directions in Social Policy: Alternatives from and for the Global South

The Politics of Poverty Alleviation Strategies in India M Vijayabaskar and Gayathri Balagopal, December 2019

Economic Growth, Youth Unemployment, and Political and Social Instability. A Study of Policies and Outcomes in Post-Arab Spring Egypt, Morocco, Jordan, and Tunisia Heath Prince, Amna Khan and Yara Halasa-Rappel, December 2018

New Directions in Social Policy: Evidence from the Indonesian Health Insurance Programme

Mulyadi Sumarto and Alexandra Kaasch, November 2018

Indonesian Social Policy Development in a Context of Global Social Governance Alexandra Kaasch, Mulyadi Sumarto and Brooke Wilmsen, May 2018

Global Approaches to Social Policy: A Survey of Analytical Methods Nicola Yeates, February 2018

Political and Institutional Drivers of Social Security Policy in South Africa Marianne S. Ulriksen and Sophie Plagerson, December 2017

Moving towards Redistributive and Transformative Social Security? Gendered Social and Economic Outcomes in South Africa Sophie Plagerson, Tessa Hochfeld and Lauren Stuart, December 2017

The Controversial Brazilian Welfare Regime Lena Lavinas, Denise Gentil and Barbara Cobo, November 2017 The Rise of Homegrown Ideas and Grassroots Voices: New Directions in Social Policy in Rwanda

Chika Ezeanya-Esiobu, May 2017

The Development of Indonesian Social Policy in the Context of Overseas Development Aid

Brooke Wilmsen, Alexandra Kaasch and Mulyadi Sumarto, March 2017

Universalizing Elementary Education in India: Achievements and Challenges John Harriss, February 2017

Contents

1. Background	1
2. The Antecedents of the Rights to Work and to Food	2
3. Drivers of the New Rights to Work and to Food	3
3.1. The Right to Work	
3.2 The PDS and NFSA	5
3.2.1. Drivers of the NFSA	5
4. The Rights-Based Approach in Practice: Trends and Regional Variations	6
4.1. MGNREGA: Performance and Issues	6
4.2. PDS Performance	13
4.2.1. Regional Variations	13
4.3. Explanations for Regional Variations	15
4.3.1. Regional Collective Action	15
4.3.2. Regional Political Imperatives	15
4.3.3 Variations in State Capacity	16
5. Tamil Nadu and Rajasthan: Understanding Regional Variations	16
5.1. MGNREGA in Tamil Nadu and Rajasthan	17
5.2. PDS in Tamil Nadu and Rajasthan	20
6. Some Inferences	21
References	24
List of Tables	
Table 1 Physical Achievements under MGNREGA in India (2008–09 to 2013–	14) 6
Table 2 Trends in Expenditure on MGNREGA in India (2006-07 to 2013-14)	7
Table 3 Average Number of Days Worked, Average Wage Rate, Wage Payme	nt within
15 Days, Share of Material Component and Share of Women in Person	Days in
MGNREGS, State-Wise in 2015–16	
Table 4 Assets created under MGNREGS, all India, 2016-17	
Table 5 Trends in Expenditure on Food and Public Distribution as Percentage o	
India (2004–05 to 2014–15)	
Table 6 Percentage of households reporting consumption from the Public Dis	
Systems during 30 Days in India, State-wise, 2011–12	1.4
Table 7 MGNREGS indicators in Tamil Nadu and Rajasthan, 2008-09 to 2015-	

Acronyms

MGNREGA Mahatma Gandhi National Rural Employment Guarantee Act MGNREGS Mahatma Gandhi National Rural Employment Guarantee Scheme

NFSA National Food Security Act
PDS Public Distribution System
EGS Employment Guarantee Scheme
TPDS Targeted Public Distribution System

FCI Food Corporation of India

SCs Scheduled Castes
STs Scheduled Tribes
OBC Other Backward Class
MBC Most Backward Class

PUCL People's Union for Civil Liberties

GP Gram Panchayat
BJP Bharatiya Janata Party
UPA United Progressive Alliance
NDA National Democratic Alliance

FICCI Federation of Indian Chambers of Commerce and Industry

FPS Fair Price Shop

MKSS Mazdoor Kisan Shakti Sangathan

RTI Right to Information

NSSO National Sample Survey Office

PoS Point of Sale

TNCSC Tamil Nadu Civil Supplies Corporation

BPL Below Poverty Line
APL Above Poverty Line
GDP Gross Domestic Product
NAC National Advisory Council

Acknowledgements

We wish to thank Dr Sanjay Ruparelia, Ryerson University, Canada and Dr John Harriss, Simon Fraser University, Canada for useful discussions and comments on an earlier version for the draft. We are grateful to all the civil society organisation representatives, academics, government officials, individuals and journalists who shared details on the design and implementation of the programmes. We appreciate the administrative support from MIDS and from Kelly of UNRISD in the initial stages of the study. To Il Cheong, UNRISD we are indebted for all the help during the project.

Summary

In 2004, following the election of the Congress-led United Progressive Alliance (UPA), India began to introduce a series of legally enforceable rights to expand the economic security and social opportunities of its citizens. The flagship initiative of the UPA was the Mahatma Gandhi National Rural Employment Guarantee Act (MGNREGA); a program which sought to protect the livelihoods of the poor agricultural labourers during periods of distress, by granting adult members of every rural household the right to demand 100 days of unskilled work at stipulated minimum wages from the state, making it the largest work guarantee programme in the world. The second measure was the National Food Security Act (NFSA), an improvement of the pre-existing public distribution system (PDS), through which state governments offered subsidised food grains to the poor.

After establishing the historical antecedents of the MGNREGA and the PDS, this paper briefly reviews the politico-economic context of the emergence of these two initiatives in India. This includes the political and civil society imperatives that shaped the design and implementation of the schemes. Based on secondary data, the paper then examines the performance of the two programmes over time and across sub-national regions.

The paper offers some explanations for the trends observed and sub-national variations. Explanations are based on both existing literature and interviews with key informants in the bureaucracy, political elites and civil society activists in New Delhi, Tamil Nadu and Rajasthan. Women, Dalits and Adivasis, who generally constitute the poorest inhabitants of rural India, have disproportionately benefitted from the MGNREGA, weakening traditional relations of power. The provision of work has also helped lower rural poverty and distress migration while generating some productive assets. However, participation in MGNREGA never reached its guaranteed 100 days per year, and the number of person days worked as well as completion rates of commissioned projects have fallen. We point to the role of political interference and friction in bureaucratic processes, especially in poorer states, belying the rights-based character of the Act. Yet some poorer states perform relatively better due to favourable mediating institutions and actors, such as state-level political elites.

In relative contrast, purchases of basic food grains via the PDS by all households show an upward trend, post-2004. The problem of leakages continues in many regions; yet, some states increased public subsidies and universalised food entitlements, introduced pulses and edible oils into the basket of goods, and reformed the purchasing and delivery of food through better computerised displays of institutional performance. The findings stress the importance of institutions such as electoral democracy, judicial and civil society activism, social audits, and political parties in incentivising the implementation of these programmes.

In conclusion, the paper highlights the need for a more local-sensitive approach to policy design and greater political mobilisation of intended beneficiaries for rights-based welfare programmes to be effective in addressing social and economic insecurities of the poor.

Keywords: Judicial activism, civil society activism, political mobilisation over social protection, MGNREGA, NFSA, PDS, state capacity.

1. Background

Over much of the period between 2003 and 2018, India experienced one of the fastest growth rates in the world when the state had implemented a set of economic reforms that may be labelled as neo-liberal. Though contested in terms of magnitude and spatial spread, this was also a period that witnessed reductions in absolute poverty, as defined by official poverty lines. Contrary to conventional assumptions that globalisation under neoliberal growth regimes will undermine social welfare provisioning, there is growing evidence worldwide to suggest that the outcomes are more complex. Welfare spending does not necessarily decrease everywhere, despite other policy shifts that are indicative of neo-liberalisation (Rudra and Haggard 2005)¹. In fact, Barrientos and Hulme (2009) point to a quiet revolution unfolding in the poorer countries with the rapid spread of social protection measures. Importantly, as Ferguson (2015) points out, such protection involves a set of non-contributory transfers, unbound to employment. Since 2000, India too, despite the neoliberal tilt, has seen a series of policies legislated by the state, aimed at expanding the domain of welfare, some of which were of a non-contributory nature (Ruparelia 2013; Mooij 2014). This chapter provides a critical overview of the drivers, design and implementation of two important poverty reduction strategies in India, a national public rural employment guarantee programme, under the Mahatma Gandhi National Rural Employment Guarantee Act 2005 (MGNREGA), and the public provision of subsidised food grains through the Public Distribution System (PDS). There are clear overlaps between the interventions in the domain of income security through public employment assurances and the domain of food security through public provisioning of food grains. Among the range of poverty reduction strategies launched in post-colonial India, these are, arguably, the two most significant in terms of coverage and impact. The primary responsibilities for their delivery, as with other social welfare programmes, rest with the sub-national (state) governments.

The paper is structured as follows. After establishing the historical antecedents of the two policies, we briefly review the politico-economic context of the emergence of the two initiatives in India, emphasising the proximate drivers of the two policies; this includes the political and civil society imperatives that shaped the design and implementation of the schemes. Based on secondary data, we then review performance of the two programmes over time, and across sub-national regions. We offer some explanations for the trends observed based on both existing literature and interviews with key informants in the bureaucracy, with political actors and civil society activists. To understand regional variations better, we then move onto a discussion of the implementation processes in two select states, Rajasthan and Tamil Nadu, occupying different locations on the human development indices spectrum in the country. The final section draws together the observations made to identify a few critical factors that shape poverty reduction policies, outcomes and implications for such policy interventions elsewhere.

¹ Based on data for the period 1972-1997 in over 50 countries.

2. The Antecedents of the Rights to Work and to Food

India's experiments with social security measures can be traced back to the colonial period, with the initiation of famine relief measures in the late 19th century. Involving a combination of a public works programmes and the introduction of a rudimentary urban public distribution system, these measures, in response to the changing political economy, have since then been reworked and revamped in post-colonial India. Persistence of rural poverty despite a degree of economic growth and accompanying rural unrest, has been a critical driver of the initiation of further social welfare programmes, particularly since the mid-1960s. Furthermore, the inability to generate increases in productive employment has been compensated by a series of governmental measures that seek to provide a degree of social protection for the economically excluded. Between 1999-2000 and 2004-05, "formal" employment that ensures access to social security benefits and a degree of employment security accounted for less than 10% of the total employment in India and has further reduced since the initiation of liberalising reforms from the 1990s (Papola 2013; Sood, Nath and Ghosh 2014). Agriculture continues to account for the bulk of employment absorption and includes a large number of marginal landholders who combine self-employment with waged work to meet their livelihood requirements. Rapid reductions in the national income share for the agricultural sector has not been matched by corresponding reductions in the workforce employed in agriculture, reflected in the persistence of rural poverty. Though unemployment rates are not too high, underemployment continues to prevail. The Annual Employment-Unemployment Survey, 2013–14 showed that the unemployment rate was 4.9% (Labour Bureau 2014). However, among those in the labour force, only 60.5% could find employment for the entire 12 months.

Employment augmentation through public works programmes, support through subsidies and the promotion/protection of various kinds of self-employment – such as handloom weaving – innovations in the PDS and social security pensions for the marginalised are key components of such social protection measures initiated in India. The Constitution of India does not ensure a judicially enforceable fundamental right to work. However, the right is a part of the directive principles of the Constitution, which provide guidelines for the government to frame policies. Although they cannot be enforced judicially, they allow for the formulation of laws that can, in turn, be made enforceable. The MGNREGA, Right to Education Act and the National Food Security Act are examples of possibilities envisaged in the directive principles to ensure a degree of social protection, and how that can be translated into enforceable rights (Harriss 2013; Ruparelia 2013; Mooij 2014; Jenkins and Manor 2017).

Public works programmes in India have a long history. Among them, the Maharashtra Employment Guarantee Scheme (EGS), run by the Maharashtra government from 1972, is the most comprehensive and closest to the MGNREGA in terms of a rights-based construction. While most other programmes had a shelf-life of no more than a few years, this programme was re-constituted into a rights-based entitlement and continued for 20 years, inviting the attention of both policymakers and the academic community (Dev 1996; Hirway and Terhal 1994; Patel 2006; Jadhav 2006; Joshi and Moore 2000). Originally launched as a drought relief programme in the early 1970s, it was soon rescaled as an anti-poverty programme and granted a statutory basis through a law passed in the Maharashtra Legislative Assembly in 1977.

While some scholars view this as a poor substitute for proper land reforms and entrenchment of the interests of the rural landed elites, it was also seen as an empowering tool that opened spaces for staking claim among the rural poor.² However, such programmes were not without pitfalls. The Maharashtra EGS declined in terms of scope and demand over time. Moore and Jadhav (2006) identified the loss of political interest due to shifts in configurations of political power and "bureaucratic suppression" of demand by routinising implementation, as the two most important factors behind the decline. This also provided avenues for corruption and rent-seeking by, for instance, adding fictitious names to the rolls, paying workers less than the stipulated rates or allowing poor quality of infrastructure (Hirway and Terhal 1994), discrimination based on caste identities and landed elites using this programme to access labour to work on their lands (Patel 2006). Many of these observations have fed into innovations introduced into the MGNREGA.

In addition to such employment augmentation schemes, the public provisioning of subsidised food has been a key pillar of poverty alleviation measures in India. Although the National Food Security Act (NFSA) was passed only in 2013, a PDS to deliver subsidised food grains had been in place for much longer (Mooji 1998)³. Following food price inflation and famines after World War II, price stabilisation and rationing drove food distribution policies during the 1940s. With the establishment of the Food Corporation of India (FCI) and the Agricultural Prices Commission in 1964, which recommended a system of minimum support price (MSP), the focus was on attaining self-sufficiency in food grain production and income support to farmers. The period from 1965–1990 witnessed the expansion of the PDS throughout the country, particularly in rural areas, with 75% of ration shops being located there.

The post liberalisation period (1990s) marked the entry of targeted public distribution system (TPDS) in 1997, as part of the Structural Adjustment Programme to provide highly subsidised food grains to those families identified by state governments as living below poverty line (BPL) households. From 1999–2000, 31.3% of rural households and 19.9% of urban households consumed rice from the PDS (National Sample Survey Office, NSSO 2001). However, following a Supreme Court ruling in 2001, and regional political developments, several state governments undertook measures beyond the provisions of the TDPS to reduce leakages in the PDS through both institutional and infrastructural improvements. Regional governments such as Tamil Nadu, undivided Andhra Pradesh, Chhattisgarh and Himachal Pradesh, for example, have taken advantage of the PDS to appeal to the electorate promising the provision of highly subsidised food. This was followed by the passing of the National Food Security Act (NFSA) by the Indian government in 2013.

3. Drivers of the New Rights to Work and to Food

3.1. The Right to Work

The MGNREGA, estimated to cost 1% of the country's GDP (Dreze 2011), was passed in Parliament in September 2005 and implemented in a phased manner from 2006. The Act guarantees a minimum of 100 days of employment for rural households annually, with a state-specific fixed minimum wage. Starting with 200 of the most backward

² Material in this section is drawn largely from Dev (1996) and Hirway and Terhal (1994).

³ The discussion on evolution of the PDS draws substantially from Mooji (1998).

districts, it was extended to 130 more districts within a year and then encompassed all the remaining districts by 2008 (Ministry of Rural Development 2012). The Act also prescribes the nature of work and its hierarchy of priorities, as follows:

(i) water conservation and water harvesting; (ii) drought proofing (including afforestation and tree plantation); (iii) irrigation canals including micro and minor irrigation works; (iv) provision of irrigation facility, horticulture plantation and land development facilities to land owned by households belonging to the Scheduled Castes (SCs) and Scheduled Tribes (STs) or below poverty line (BPL) families or to the beneficiaries of land reforms or to the beneficiaries under the Indira Awas Yojana of GoI or that of the small farmers or marginal farmers as defined in the Agriculture Debt Waiver and Debt Relief Scheme, 2008; (v) renovation of traditional water bodies including desilting of tanks; (vi) land development; (vii) flood control and protection works including drainage in water logged areas; (viii) rural connectivity to provide all-weather access; and (ix) any other work which may be notified by the central government in consultation with the state government.⁴

Even though there are strong overlaps with the Maharashtra Employment Guarantee Act, the MGNREGA introduced several innovative institutional measures and differed in design from previous national rural employment programmes, as follows:

- Unlike the earlier public works related employment programmes, the MGNREGA guarantees work as a right.
- It was seen as a post-clientelist programme, because it sought to reduce corruption by banning contractors and thus plug the leakage of resources to political brokers and local elites (Maiorano 2014).
- It is not targeted and offers work based on self-selection, avoiding the errors of omission that targeting entails.

It also stipulated that one-third of the employment offers must include women, and work has to be provided within a radius of 5 km from the place of residence. Since there should be a parity of wages between both men and women, it can also be seen as potentially effecting fundamental changes in rural social relations and undermining gender-based labour market segmentation. Furthermore, the wage rates notified under this Act are higher than the minimum wages and so, may serve as an institution around which rural wage bargaining may take place. To embed the programme within the local democratic structures, the Act mandates that at least 50% of the funds are to be spent by elected local bodies. The local bodies are also responsible for choosing the nature of work to be undertaken, based on the parameters prescribed in the works manual. Importantly, the assurance of employment also implies a degree of freedom for the rural poor from interlocked markets that tie them into a vicious low wage yet high interest rate regime. The central government mostly finances the scheme. While it takes care of the entire cost of employing unskilled workers (hence, the wage component), it also contributes 75% of the material component. Under the Act, the wage to material ratio of the cost is to be maintained at 60:40, at the gram panchayat (GP) levels. Hence, the state government's liability increases as the work involves more material components and this, therefore, acts as a disincentive to deploy more materials.

4

⁴Adapted from the MGNREGA Works Field Manual downloaded from http://nrega.nic.in/mgnrega_works_draft_manual12.pdf. Accessed on 1 September 2015.

3.2 The PDS and NFSA

Even though the PDS has been around for a long time, and despite a commitment to universal food security on the parts of the two successive UPA governments (2004–2014), it was only in 2013 that the NFSA was passed. Section 3 (1) of the NFSA states that, "Every person belonging to priority households, identified under sub-section (1) of section 10, shall be entitled to receive five kilograms of food grains per person per month at subsidised prices specified in Schedule I from the State Government under the Targeted Public Distribution System in addition to special provisions for pregnant and lactating women and children below the age of six to ensure improved nutrition." The Act specifies the criteria for 17 categories of "priority" households that include BPL households, scheduled caste (SC) and scheduled tribe (ST) households, those residing in slums and temporary shelters and single women with dependent children. Together, it is supposed to cover up to 75% of rural households and 50% of the urban population. However, unlike the MNREGA, the provisions of the NFSA are targeted when compared to the original National Food Security Bill, which extended universal entitlements.

3.2.1. Drivers of the NFSA

Civil society actors play a critical role in the domain of food security. The political purchase for a food for work programme increased following a public interest litigation (PIL) filed by the People's Union for Civil Liberties (PUCL) – a civil society organization – in the wake of large scale droughts in the country in 2001, even as there were 60 million tonnes of accumulated stocks in the godowns of the Food Corporation of India (Interview with Kavita Srivastava, PUCL, April 2016). The Supreme Court, in what is considered a landmark interim order, in November 2001, converted the benefits under the PDS and other social welfare programmes into legal entitlements (Interview with Kavita Srivastava, PUCL, April 2016).

The NFSA was on the agenda of the second term of the Congress-led UPA government but, by then the global crises undermined the fiscal leeway available for implementation. This was compounded by the fact that the programme implementation was even more challenging in terms of both financial and institutional architectures. Although Sonia Gandhi managed to overcome resistance within her party, the parliamentary committee and the cabinet eroded the bill, and what was passed was a diluted version of the bill proposed by NAC (Interview with Harsh Mander, March 2016). Although farmers' welfares and ensuring agricultural incomes were some of the key elements of the Bharatiya Janata Party's (BJP) election manifesto, once the BJP assumed power in 2014, the Act appeared to be pushed less seriously, similar to the case of MGNREGA. However, this was countered by civil society organisations, especially in the context of the drought affecting several states.

In the next section, we map the financial and physical trends in the performance of the MGNREGA and PDS, and their regional variations for some of the indicators. Since the NFSA is in the early stages of implementation, we focus on the existing PDS.

4. The Rights-Based Approach in Practice: Trends and Regional Variations

4.1. MGNREGA: Performance and Issues

The demand for MGNREGA has demonstrated fluctuations, with demand falling by nearly 27% between 2012–13 and 2015–16, followed by a revival in 2016–17 (Table 1). The most reason cited to explain this decrease are delayed payments, as workers work within a tight expenditure schedule and cannot afford to wait long periods for payments. Another factor has been the bureaucratic repression of demand. Work plans are approved and sanctioned only at the last moment, the timing of fund flow from the central to the state to the local governments is critical. Another source of delay is the new requirement to transfer cash through bank accounts, which poses considerable hurdles in poorer states with weak banking infrastructures.

Even though the share of women workers increased during this period, the shares of SCs and STs have declined. Nevertheless, it must be emphasised that SCs, STs and women are over-represented in MGNREGA employment in relation to their respective shares in the population, suggesting that the programme does positively impact extremely vulnerable households. The average number of employment days generated have not gone beyond 50, and in fact declined by nearly 14% between 2009–10 and 2013–14. Tables 1 and 2 provide an idea of the scope and outlays of the scheme in the last five years.

Table 1 Physical Achievements under MGNREGA in India (2008–09 to 2013–14)

	2008-	2009–	2010–	2011–	2012-	2013–
	09	10	11	12	13	14
Total job cards issued (in Cr)	10.01	11.25	11.98	12.50	12.79	13.13
Employment provided to households (in Cr)	4.51	5.26	5.49	5.06	4.98	4.76
Person days (in Cr)	216	284	257	219	230	220
Scheduled castes	63.36	86.45	78.76	48.47	50.96	49.26
	[29%]	[30%]	[31%]	[22%]	[22%]	[23%]
Scheduled tribes	55.02	58.74	53.62	40.92	40.75	37.22
	[25%]	[21%]	[21%]	[19%]	[18%]	[17%]
Women	103.57	136.40	122.74	105.27	117.93	115.15
	[48%]	[48%]	[48%]	[48%]	[51%]	[53%]
Person days per household	48 days	54 days	47 days	43 days	46 days	46 days

Source: Ministry of Rural Development, Government of India. 2014. *Mahatma Gandhi National Rural Employment Guarantee Act*. http://nrega.nic.in/Netnrega/WriteReaddata/Circulars/PRC%205-6%20Jun%2014%20v2%2030%20MAY%2014_version-4_Final.pdf. Consulted on August 25, 2015.

Table 2 provides an overview of the trends in expenses incurred from 2006–07 to 2013–14. As seen, although the amount spent against the budget outlay has increased marginally, this is not reflected in the amount of employment generated. Variations in political commitments to the programme have led to delays, especially with the UPA II

losing power to the NDA in 2014. Lack of initial enthusiasm on the part of the new government is supposed to have further contributed to this decline in offtake. It has been reported that the NDA government delayed transferring money to the states (Interview with Ashok Pankaj, CSD, March 2016). However, electoral reverses at the sub-national level, like in Bihar, for the ruling political party is held to have contributed a change in attitude within the new government. Since then, the government has sought to sustain the populist appeal of the programme but with an emphasis on the asset creation aspect of it. Apart from electoral pressures, lobbying by one of the leading business associations in India, the Federation of Indian Chambers of Commerce and Industry (FICCI) to address the slackening rural demand further contributed to the revived interest in implementation of the MGNREGA (Interview with government official, New Delhi, March 2016).

Table 2 Trends in Expenditure on MGNREGA in India (2006–07 to 2013–14)

	FY							
	06-07	07-08	08-09	09-10	10–11	11–12	12–13	13–14
Budget								
outlay (In	11300	12000	30000	39100	40100	31000	30287	33000
Cr)								
Central								
release (In	8640	12610	29939	33506	35768	29189	30009	32743
Cr)								
Total								
available	12073	19305	37397	49579	54172	48805	45051	42265
funds (In	12073	19303	31391	47317	34172	40003	43031	42203
Cr)								
Expenditure								
(In Cr) [%	8823	15856	27250	37905	39377	37072	39657	37468
against	[73%]	[82%]	[73%]	[76%]	[73%]	[76%]	[88%]	[89%]
available	[/3/0]	[02/0]	[/3/0]	[/0/0]	[7370]	[/0/0]	[0070]	[07/0]
funds]								
Expenditure	5842	10738	18200	25579	25686	24306	27128	26096
on wages	[68%]	[70%]	[69%]	[70%]	[68%]	[70%]	[72%]	[74%]
(In Cr)	[0070]	[7070]	[07/0]	[7070]	[0070]	[7070]	[/2/0]	[/4/0]
Expenditure								
on	2758	4617	8100	11084	11891	10650	10403	9159
materials	[32%]	[30%]	[31%]	[30%]	[32%]	[30%]	[28%]	[26%]
(In Cr)								

Source: Ministry of Rural Development, Government of India. 2014. *Mahatma Gandhi National Rural Employment Guarantee Act*. http://nrega.nic.in/Netnrega/WriteReaddata/Circulars/PRC%205-6%20Jun%2014%20v2%2030%20MAY%2014 version-4 Final.pdf. Consulted on August 25, 2015.

However, the implementation has not been without pitfalls. Despite the Act identifying an important role for GPs, and designing it as demand-driven, it is generally believed that the quality of functioning of GPs and the demand for work under MGNREGA do not correlate. The quality of district administration, such as district collectors, or the state governments tend to influence outcomes better. To that extent, the creation of demand has been more of a top-driven bureaucratic effort. Another factor is the role of state level political elites in utilising the Act to strengthen their position or enhance their appeal among the electorate. A rights-based approach, according to interviewees, may also not work in areas where the poor have not experienced engagement with the state on the basis of rights. The following are some issues in the implementation of the scheme.

a) Shortfall in Access to Employment:

In a survey on employment and unemployment in the country, the NSSO collected details on employment provided under MGNREGA. Despite the scheme being a rights-based one and work allocation done based on self-selection, 18.8% of those who were registered under the programme seeking work were denied, indicating problems of access (NSSO 2014).

b) Regional Variations:

In 2009–10, rationing rates in poorer states, such as Bihar and Uttar Pradesh, was as high as 78.5% and 53.6%, respectively, and was less than 25% only in Rajasthan, Tamil Nadu and Himachal Pradesh (Dutta *et al* 2012). In 2011–12, unmet demand was more than 20% in West Bengal, Jharkhand, Odisha and Rajasthan, and even lower in poorer states of Madhya Pradesh, Chhattisgarh and Uttar Pradesh (NSSO 2014). A relatively higher share of demand was also not met in states that had lower poverty ratios such as Punjab and Rajasthan. Although poverty levels were low in Tamil Nadu, unmet demand was less than 10%, indicating state level efficiency in responding to demands (NSSO 2014). The relationship between demand and state responses indicate the importance of mediating institutions. There are state-level differences in the expenditure made on materials used, wage rates and promptness of payment, and also in the share of women and SC/ST in the employment generated (Table 3).

Table 3 Average Number of Days Worked, Average Wage Rate, Wage Payment within 15 Days, Share of Material Component and Share of Women in Person Days in MGNREGS, State-Wise in 2015–16

States		Avg. days of employment provided per household	Avg. wage rate	Notified wage rates	% of payments generated within 15 days	Material (%)	Work completion rate	Percentage of person-days worked by women
North	Haryana	28.73	253.32	251	31.79	22.55	31.43	45.13
	Himachal	41.93	161.21	168.83	28.93	23.37	54.01	63.15
	Jammu & Kashmir	48.45	163.89	164	13.02	52.24	33.84	25.28
	Punjab	30.45	205.76	210	14.13	20.21	44.6	57.99
	Rajasthan	55.47	116.41	173	46.48	18.26	17.06	69.02
	Uttarakhand	41.13	160.97	161	23.64	32.14	38.75	51.73
Central	Chhattisgarh	46.64	152.8	159	7.81	28.67	31.98	49.02
	Madhya Pradesh	45.8	149.84	159	28.08	35.53	55.77	43.15
	Uttar Pradesh	33.53	160.88	169.59	19.9	18.61	35.41	29.52
East	Bihar	45.11	176.8	162	15.52	32.75	12.36	40.85
	Jharkhand	52.01	161.97	162	71.49	30.6	50.42	32.74
	Odisha	44.78	188.02	174	37.09	20.53	37.05	38.02
	West Bengal	46.88	169.91	174	16.38	22.11	20.87	46.28
North-	Arunachal	27.84	167.14	167	6.52	36.11	23.44	31.64
East	Assam	32.38	178.94	177.68	18.58	35.44	4.91	33.58
	Manipur	15.9	189.96	177.68	83.14	33.11	88.71	37.26
	Meghalaya	54.21	162.87	163	0.76	27.5	71.04	42.92
	Mizoram	68.95	183	177.68	73.22	13.63	97.75	37.68
	Nagaland	50.81	166.98	167	4.89	30.13	92.4	31.28
	Sikkim	66.98	168.73	167	42.14	37.94	14.07	47.57

UNRISD Working Paper 2019–7

	Tripura	94.46	159.15	167	57.68	30.02	80.87	50.11
West	Goa	18.16	203	208	31.2	23.95	58.74	76.9
	Gujarat	40.49	158.49	178	34.48	23.31	52.42	46.21
	Maharashtra	59.87	175.43	181	35.15	25.32	27.69	44.52
South	Andhra Pradesh	55.2	129.5	180	79.23	39.42	61.67	57.78
	Telangana	55.28	127.09	-	66.32	14.1	38.51	60.76
	Karnataka	48.44	203.7	204	29.83	35.23	38.7	47.12
	Kerala	49.26	231.82	229	18.5	2.3	81.69	91.27
	Tamil Nadu	60.9	133.45	177.68	32.05	23.07	83.89	85.2
All India	48.85	•	154.09	-	36.97	25.8	42.08	55.26

Source: Ministry of Rural Development, Management Information System

Although the scheme guarantees 100 days of work per rural household, no state other than Tripura was able to achieve it. As Tripura has a low level of industrialisation, stagnation in agriculture and lack of employment opportunities, the scheme received strong political support from the Left Front government in Tripura, due to its ability to generate employment and reduce poverty (Bhowmik and Bose 2015). North Eastern states of Mizoram and Sikkim were able to provide 68.95 and 66.98 days, on an average, followed by Tamil Nadu (60.9 days). The average wage paid to workers was equal to or more than the notified wage in Haryana, Kerala, Bihar, Jharkhand, Odisha and North Eastern states. Payment of wages at rates below the notified rates suggests that the rights-based entitlement can be genuinely so, only when collective action strengthens. This points to another important concern expressed by a key informant about the effectiveness of a rights-based programme in the absence of a sound judicial infrastructure. Work completion rate was one of highest in Tamil Nadu, Kerala and some of the North Eastern states, and lower than the national average in Rajasthan and Bihar. This has been attributed to the level of technical capacity at the GP level, which is crucial in planning and operationalising the work (Interview with Ashok Pankaj, CSD, March 2016). The data on the share of women in person-days worked show that Kerala, Tamil Nadu, Goa, Rajasthan and Himachal Pradesh had a high proportion of women person days. Next, the stipulation that the government should pay workers within two weeks is routinely violated. It is only in few states, such as Manipur, Andhra Pradesh, Mizoram and Jharkhand that most workers are paid within two weeks of work completion.

One of the most citizen empowering features of the MGNREGA was social audits, which were meant to ensure downward accountability of the scheme by enabling citizens to monitor the scheme and challenge the government about discrepancies and corruption. Data from the MGNREGA management information system indicate the poor implementation of social audits in the country, with only 40.8% of social audits having been completed in the financial year of 2015–16. This pattern suggests that there is resistance to social audits from the sub-national governments.

c) Asset Creation:

A major criticism levelled against MGNREGA is the inadequate emphasis on work completion with less than half of the work being completed in most states. While the employment dimension of the Act is seen as a reasonable success, outcomes of the asset creation objective have therefore been mixed (Ministry of Rural Development, Government of India 2012). Thus, it has often been criticised for merely transferring money without creating assets. Criticisms notwithstanding, recent studies on this count (Narayanan 2016⁵; Ranaware et al 2015; Khera 2016⁶) state that while the initial emphasis was more on job creation, over time, it shifted to asset creation. This has been propelled by two policy moves by the government; first an expansion of the list of works that can be undertaken under the Act including work on private lands, and second, encouraging convergence works. Convergence refers to the combination of MGNREGA programmes with other government programmes to create assets. The initiative, as Narayanan (2016) pointed out, has led to the creation of new rural livelihood options, improved productivity in agriculture and, importantly, expanded water related infrastructure through a range of measures. A study conducted by the Indian Institute of Science in four states, using assessments of ecological, socioeconomic and physical indicators – such as groundwater, soil and organic carbon and biomass estimation – and household surveys, demonstrated that assets created through MGNREGS work on water and land development have helped improve groundwater levels, increase availability of water for irrigation, increased areas

⁵http://www.ideasforindia.in/article.aspx?article_id=1596 downloaded on 15/1/2017.

⁶http://indianexpress.com/article/opinion/columns/mgnrega-digging-holes-filling-them-up/ downloaded on 15/1/2017.

under irrigation and improved the availability of drinking water for humans and livestock (Esteaves *et al* 2013). Findings from research in Maharashtra reveal the importance of assets created through MGNREGA for agriculture, dietary diversity and diversification of economic activity into horticulture and pisciculture as well as improved irrigation and drinking water facilities (Ranaware *et al* 2015). Interestingly, although there are models of asset creation, such as the creation of dry wells in Jharkhand, no single state has simultaneously witnessed robust employment generation, asset creation and GP generating demand (interview with key informant, March 2016). Table 4 shows that at the GP level, the largest number of assets were created under rural sanitation (1046283), irrigation facilities for SCs and STs (1511796) and water conservation and water harvesting (795796).

Table 4 Assets created under MGNREGS, all India, 2016-17

Category	Gram	Block	Zilla Parishad
	Panchayat	Panchayat	
Flood control	91654	1718	297
Rural connectivity	418059	15163	3694
Water conservation and water harvesting	795796	9512	2664
Renovation of traditional water bodies	296706	3391	371
Drought proofing	695757	29701	10553
Irrigation canals	133635	2050	2542
Irrigation facilities to SC/ST/IAY/LR	1511796	63676	3951
Land development	450428	4136	792
Other works	77622	9874	4808
Rajiv Gandhi Seva Kendra	9154	62	0
Coastal areas	525	1	
Rural drinking water	113192	457	
Fisheries	3824	352	
Rural sanitation	1046283	7379	

Source: Ministry of Rural Development, Government of India. The Mahatma Gandhi National Rural Employment Guarantee Act 2005, http://mnregaweb4.nic.in/netnrega/writereaddata/citizen_out/wrkstatlink_1617.html

4.2. PDS Performance

The expenditure on food and public distribution has increased in absolute terms between 2004–05 and 2013–14 and also marginally as a percentage of the GDP. However, it had declined from 2005–06 but picked up from 2008–09 onwards, which were the years of global financial crises and food price inflation (Table 5).

Table 5 Trends in Expenditure on Food and Public Distribution as Percentage of GDP in India (2004–05 to 2014–15)

Years	2004-	2005-	2006-	2007-	2008-	2009-	2010-	2011-	2012-	2013-
	05	06	07	08	09	10	11	12	13	14
Expenditure as percentage of GDP	0.88	0.69	0.62	0.69	0.84	0.97	0.98	0.88	0.92	0.89

Note: GDP is at current prices.

Source: Union Expenditure Budget, various years.

The incidence of purchases of rice, wheat and sugar from the PDS among all households shows an upward trend between 2004-05 and 2011-12, in rural and urban areas, attesting to the important role that the PDS has played in protecting the real incomes of households during periods of food inflation (NSSO 2015). Drèze and Khera (2013), using the National Sample Survey data from 2009–10 and the Tendulkar poverty line, estimate that the PDS had made for considerable inroads into rural poverty reduction, and accounted for 17.6% reduction in the poverty gap index.

4.2.1. Regional Variations

Some states undertook substantive PDS reforms such as the rejection of BPL/APL distinction in entitlements, expansion of coverage at state's expense, reduction in issue price, introduction of pulses and edible oils at subsidised prices, de-privatisation of ration shops, doorstep deliveries and computerisation of PDS transactions (Khera 2011). In 2006, Tamil Nadu universalised the PDS and removed the BPL/APL distinctions in accessing subsidised food grains, and 20 kg of rice was supplied at Re 1/kg. In 2011, Tamil Nadu went even further, and 20kg of rice was given free-of-cost to households who opted for the PDS. There was an expansion of the PDS in Chhattisgarh, Odisha and Rajasthan by increasing the number of BPL cards per fair price shop (FPS). The commission paid to FPS dealers was increased in Rajasthan and Andhra Pradesh, which reduced the incentive for corruption. Furthermore, Tamil Nadu installed end-to-end computerisation of the PDS, which enabled better monitoring (Khera 2011). Regional variations on different aspects of the PDS are thus evident. Table 6 demonstrates the differences in households' access to the PDS. The PDS tends to work well in states that are predominantly rice consuming and particularly among the South Indian states, which have had a long history of a functional PDS. It is also interesting to note that Tamil Nadu, despite relatively lower poverty levels, demonstrated a stronger commitment to food security compared to poorer states; Rajasthan performs poorly on the PDS.

Table 6 Percentage of households reporting consumption from the Public Distribution Systems during 30 Days in India, State-wise, 2011–12

C4-4		Rice		Whea	at	Suga	r	Keros	ene
States	R	U	R	U	R	U	R	U	
	0.8	0.1	19.3	8.9	9.2	5.5	17.0	4.6	
	Himachal Pradesh	86.6	36.3	81.0	38.4	90.9	46.9	31.3	7.4
NT 41	Jammu & Kashmir	74.8	60.7	56.9	41.6	87.4	76.3	63.2	27.8
North	Punjab	0.2	0.2	22.8	7.0	0.6	0.7	18.0	3.9
	Rajasthan	0.8	0.8	28.7	16.9	4.9	2.4	77.6	19.1
	Uttarakhand	61.9	265	66.4	36.4	85.1	56.0	77.2	329
	Chhattisgarh	67.0	41.5	25.2	24.7	65.9	35.6	86.1	47.9
Central	Madhya Pradesh	30.5	17.6	36.2	23.4	31.7	19.3	71.8	31.9
	Uttar Pradesh	24.8	7.2	25.7	16.6	18.2	5.7	85.0	47.7
	Bihar	45.0	19.0	44.6	18.9	1.9	2.2	88.2	52.6
T4	Jharkhand	33.3	5.1	0.8	0.5	0.8	0.6	62.3	20.4
East	Odisha	54.4	17.9	10.6	12.2	31.4	11.7	77.7	36.7
	West Bengal	35.2	11.4	43.5	19.2	14.9	6.3	91.1	59.1
	Arunachal Pradesh	73.5	54.3	3.9	5.8	30.7	34.1	26.1	14.8
	Assam	52.7	26.5	6.8	1.4	70.7	40.6	77.9	44.2
	Manipur	5.5	3.8	0	0.1	6.8	3.5	34.6	28.1
N414	Meghalaya	68.5	31.7	1.7	2.1	62.0	29.6	56.9	8.5
Northeast	Mizoram	97.2	85.7	6.7	12.5	80.3	82.7	47.2	39.7
	Nagaland	14.7	8.3	0.1	1.2	1.4	0	7.4	2.4
	Sikkim	56.1	3.4	3.0	0	66.8	40.3	56.5	4.6
	Tripura	86.5	55.8	14.7	15.3	89.8	76.6	95.7	67.3
	Goa	71.9	45.5	38.2	23.5	0	1.1	52.4	25.9
West	Gujarat	34.9	5.0	31.6	5.7	31.7	4.0	64.6	10.3
	Maharashtra	43.3	9.6	40.4	10.0	15.1	2.5	64.7	17.6
	Andhra Pradesh	86.6	45.2	10.5	6.9	81.8	42.3	80.8	31.9
South	Karnataka	75.2	32.7	71.5	30.3	67.1	26.7	79.5	25.7
South	Kerala	78.2	60.5	54.3	43.2	28.3	17.4	75.3	55.9
	Tamil Nadu	89.1	66.6	61.8	49.0	90.1	77.3	74.8	35.9
All-India		45.9	23.3	33.9	19.0	33.7	20.6	75.6	30.0

Note: R stands for rural and U for urban

Source: Public Distribution System and other sources of Household Consumption, 2011-12 (NSSO 2015).

4.3. Explanations for Regional Variations

4.3.1. Regional Collective Action

Apart from inter-state variations in the efficacy and coverage of PDS and employment generated under MGNREGA, there are also variations in the extent and nature of schemes developed and implemented by regional governments. Explanations are to be therefore sought in regional political economy, as suggested by Harriss (1999). Harriss categorised states based on the source of political power that ruling parties draw from and the extent of their stability and argued for the importance of the two factors in shaping social protection policies of sub-national governments. Based on this scheme, he attributes the emergence of more pro-active welfare regimes in states such as Tamil Nadu, Kerala and West Bengal, compared to other states, to the source of political power in lower caste and class mobilisation over a long period. Drèze and Sen (2013) too stress the role of "public action" in explaining Tamil Nadu's relatively high achievements in the domain of human development and poverty reduction. The role of socialist movements in Maharashtra and Karnataka in the implementation of state-specific employment generation schemes also suggest the importance of collective regional action.

4.3.2. Regional Political Imperatives

Chopra (2015) suggested a political framework that provides agency to regional political elites by privileging the "motivations" and "interests" of the implementing actors. She emphasised the agency and motivation of dominant political actors within a region to explain regional differences in implementation. Discussing the case of MGNREGA, she attributed variations in the extent of implementations across four states to political motivation of state level elites. While the bureaucratic will could be observed in the set of implementation practices that were put in place, the practices need to be ensured through political elites and party functionaries.

Maiorano (2014) illustrated this dynamic at work through the case of the Andhra Pradesh chief minister who was keen on utilising the MGNREGA as a means to secure political power, even as there were accusations of corruption and rent-seeking against him. While the state had performed quite badly with respect to previous public employment schemes, there has been a shift which, according to him, came about primarily due to the ability of the leadership to perceive a possibility for political mileage. That the scheme was better implemented in constituencies where ruling party MLAs were in power, lends more credence to this argument. Agency, according to this perspective, lies more among regional political elites than with the poor.

Mooij (1998) too alluded to electoral considerations as the prime mover of food policies in the southern states, although she does not discount the role of collective action in the context of Kerala. In the other South Indian states, according to her, food policy became an instrument of political clientelism. Aiyar and Walton (2014) highlighted a combination of regional political economy and judicial activism in explaining improvements in delivery under PDS in Chhattisgarh, a state that ranks poorly on most other parameters. They pointed out that state level reforms had been implemented prior to the Supreme Court ruling (Aiyar and Walton 2014).

4.3.3 Variations in State Capacity

State capacity is another major factor in better implementation. Based on an analysis of unit level NSSOs' 66th round data, Datta *et al* (2012) suggested that unmet demand was higher in poorer states due to fiscal constraints, poor administrative capacity and lower degree of empowerment among the poor. Among all the states, Tamil Nadu has the highest number of government staff per 1000 population at 14 per 1000 (Interview with NC Saxena, March 2016), indicating the importance of such capacity. Lack of skills to ensure quality of assets created is another area of concern cited in interviews. This in fact largely explains the phenomenon of work completion. In order to beef up capacity, there has been an increase in the share of MGNREGA budget from 2% to 6% for employing additional staff. Another important issue that needs to be factored is that not all states may have the fiscal leeway to expand their social welfare programmes, hinting at the importance of revenue mobilisation as a constraining factor in instituting such state-level welfare measures.

In the case of PDS too, the importance of fiscal capacity to ensure provisioning more than that allowed for by the central government becomes critical, even in instances where there is a strong political demand for such provisioning. The central government supplies a fixed quantum of grains to the states at subsidised rates, which, however, may be insufficient if the regional government wants to move from a targeted to a universal PDS. To understand the sources of regional variations better, we explore some of these issues in the case of two states through primary fieldwork among national and state-level bureaucrats as well as civil society and political actors.

5. Tamil Nadu and Rajasthan: Understanding Regional Variations

Tamil Nadu and Rajasthan are two states located at either ends of the spectrum of human development. While Tamil Nadu ranks third among all Indian states, going by the parameters developed for the 2015 global human development report, Rajasthan's human development index is below the all-India average, and is the fifth lowest among the 17 major states. Rajasthan is also home to the Mazdoor Kisan Shakti Sangathan (MKSS), a strong civil society movement among the rural poor. Key actors from the MKSS were involved in the design of the MGNREGA and NFSA. Rajasthan, with a long history of periodic droughts and a tradition of drought relief from the 1940s, was in many ways well positioned to implement the MGNREGS (Interview with journalist, April 2016; Jenkins and Manor 2017). Both the Right to Information (RTI) and MGNREGS, in fact, had their origins in drought relief public works in the state (Interview with Nikhil Dey, April 2016). Tamil Nadu, on the other hand, is known for its long-term politics around food, having been a pioneer in the case of offering free meals in public schools. Attributed to a combination of a long history of lower caste mobilisation and resultant collective action and "competitive populism" engaged in by the two dominant political parties (Wyatt 2013; Srinivasan 2010), Tamil Nadu is seen as a model for its ability to combine economic growth with relatively high levels of human development. The state has one of the best social security nets with arguably the best public distribution system in the country.

⁷http://www.livemint.com/Politics/3KhGMVXGxXcGYBRMsmDCFO/Why-Kerala-is-like-Maldives-and-Uttar-Pradesh-Pakistan.html downloaded on 7, July 2016.

5.1. MGNREGA in Tamil Nadu and Rajasthan

Both Tamil Nadu and Rajasthan have witnessed a decline in total households worked, person days generated and percentage of workers who received wages within 15 days during this period (Table 7). This can be attributed to reduction of central outlays till 2014–15. Tamil Nadu does better than Rajasthan on most parameters except in the case of timely payment of wages. While it did well in the initial years of MGNREGS, Rajasthan's performance is consistently poorer than that of Tamil Nadu. The fall in person days generated in Rajasthan, according to a key state government official, was not caused by a lack of demand but by centre-state fund flow problems. Although there is talk of declining demand for MGNREGS in Rajasthan, it is more a question of how one captures demand rather than the absence of it (Interview with Government Official, April 2016). Furthermore, delayed payments have discouraged workers, which has affected demand and the state government was not proactive in obtaining money from the centre (Interview with MKSS activists, April 2016). Problems of incentives were also cited earlier because of the need for better monitoring mechanisms to reduce rent-seeking, which may have also contributed to this decline (Jenkins and Manor 2017).

Table 7 MGNREGS indicators in Tamil Nadu and Rajasthan, 2008-09 to 2015-16

Indicators	2008-	2009-	2010-	2011-	2012-	2013-	2014-	2015-					
	09	10	11	12	13	14	15	16					
Average da	Average days of employment provided per household												
Tamil	16.28	54.67	54.05	47.51	57.8	58.67	47.36	60.9					
Nadu													
Rajasthan	16.53	68.97	51.64	46.6	52.25	50.86	45.74	55.47					
Percentage	of paymo	ents gene	rated witl	hin 15 da	ys (%)								
Tamil	-	-	-	-	99.14	78.27	27.43	32.05					
Nadu													
Rajasthan	-	-	-	-	53.07	14.95	40.62	46.48					
Percentage	of work	complete	d (%)										
Tamil	19.82	38.71	45.61	19.82	54.95	32.64	30.66	35.83					
Nadu													
Rajasthan	7.79	45.39	26.25	7.79	22.92	20.48	38.44	14.25					
Percentage	of person	n days wo	orked by v	women (%	%)								
Tamil	76.77	82.91	82.59	74.02	74.15	83.94	85.36	85.2					
Nadu													
Rajasthan	63.81	66.89	68.34	69.17	68.95	67.76	68.26	69.02					
Percentage	of person	n days wo	rked by s	scheduled	l caste (%	(o)							
Tamil	27.85	59.07	57.71	28.88	31.37	29.66	28.94	28.28					
Nadu													
Rajasthan	5.02	26.53	25.5	16.76	19.67	19.85	19.71	20.84					
Labour cos	t (%)												
Tamil	100	100	100	99.75	98.9	98.35	95.81	90.11					
Nadu													
Rajasthan	70.65	67.65	72.44	63.05	70.66	69.39	68.48	77.98					

Source: MoRD, MGNREGA MIS

In Rajasthan, the scheme is demand driven in the lean season (Interview with Sarpanch and Project Officer, April 2016). The farmers' lobbies have been influential in suppressing MGNREGS work during peak agricultural season, in agriculturally advanced

districts like Tonk, as farmers perceive a labour shortage during peak seasons (Interview with large farmer/Congress party member, Sikar, April 2016). In fact, they persuaded the government to issue an order to stop MGNREGS work during peak season, as they needed labour to work on their farms (Interview with Mohan Kumar, IDS Jaipur, April 2016).

Importantly, the presence of the MKSS and its long-term engagement with such programmes ensured some innovations that led to better implementation. A key example is the appointment of "female mates" or female work supervisors that reduced harassment or other barriers for women to participate (Jenkins and Manor 2017). When the scheme began, there were no women work site supervisors in Rajasthan, but by 2016 there were 38,000 of them due to the government's efforts to encourage women's participation in MGNREGS (Interview with Government Official, April 2016). Further measures of accountability, like provision of work within 15 days after demand receipt is issued, has created pressure among state officers to perform (Interview with Government Official, April 2016). Rajasthan has therefore witnessed a reduction in delayed wage payments from nearly 85% in 2013-14 to nearly 54% by 2015-16. The material component in Rajasthan was within the government norms, though it was higher than that of Tamil Nadu, which is due to Rajasthan's focus on building quality assets. This emphasis on quality community assets has translated into benefits for rural households in Rajasthan. A special survey by the NSSO on MGNREGA in three states, namely Rajasthan, Madhya Pradesh and undivided Andhra Pradesh, showed that 99.9% households in Rajasthan used community assets created through MGNREGA work (NSSO 2012). Jenkins and Manor (2017) also pointed that the activist movements helped ensure quality and nature of assets created in Rajasthan, as it was more demand driven and the choice of work reflected the needs of the population. Since the creation of good quality assets necessitates a higher than mandated expenditure on the material component, the expenditure is borne by other departments. The category of works under which convergence was higher in Rajasthan are construction of anganwadis, food godowns, large playgrounds in government schools, information technology centres and soil and water conservation. (Interview with Government Officials, April 2016). In Rajasthan, the government decided to encourage MGNREGS work on one lakh women SHG members' land, as it was felt that women would not mind working on each other's lands (Interview with Government Official, April 2016). However, the foray into creation of durable assets which involve the use of machines have seen a fall out in workers' interest and are inimical to the rights-based nature of the scheme. The use of earth moving equipment (JCBs) has reduced employment opportunities for workers, as they have very little work to undertake. While in the earlier phase, people waited from 4 am to demand work, they are found to be less inclined according to activists (Interview with Nikhil Dev. April 2016).

Despite some resentment among large farmers, the programme is seen in a positive light by small and marginal farmers, given the prevalent agrarian distress. It has benefitted them through soil and water conservation works like deepening of wells, renovation of water bodies and contour bunding, and increasing agricultural productivity. Nearly 200–300 farms in the area have benefitted from contour bunding, and farmers were able to cultivate moong and bajra even though rainfall was poor (Interview with MKSS activist, April 2016).

In the case of Tamil Nadu, there was less enthusiasm initially for the scheme as it was a central scheme but soon the regional party in power realised the political mileage that it can bring. The state is recognised to be endowed with a good bureaucratic capacity, and this helped the political elites to drive the programme. Going by estimates that 29% of rural households were BPL families, the government pushed to enrol at least 30% of the

households in the scheme. Although the initial response was lukewarm, there was a belief that getting a job card also was essential to get a television set that was promised by the newly elected government in its poll manifesto. A crucial decision made was to take up only 100% labour intensive works to reduce corruption in terms of material procurement, and because there was enough labour-intensive public works that could be undertaken without material investments. The state government had already started a programme for creating village ponds for rainwater storing and ground water repletion, and MGNREGA work could easily be dovetailed into that scheme. Furthermore, there are several minor canals in the state meant for irrigation that require desilting which could be done primarily with labour. Finally, since the entire wage bill for unskilled workers is to be borne by the central government, it would not affect the budget of the state government and this was important given the number of social assistance programmes that the state had undertaken.

Efforts were also taken to ensure that all habitations are covered in every village. This meant that caste discrepancies within villages could be addressed by ensuring that work sites are distributed across all habitations. The state was the first to conduct time and motion studies to fix up work completion norms for wage payment. While in many states wages were paid on a time-rate basis, the state's development of standards for piece-rates was then picked up by the centre and adapted. The state also put in place one of the best monitoring systems in the country that allows high level officials to keep track of any delays in offering employment. Social audits as a means of monitoring has however not taken off in the state as much as it has happened in neighbouring Andhra Pradesh.

In Tamil Nadu, apart from the pressure from the top to ensure enrolment, there were also efforts by political parties, like the Communist party, who saw in this an opportunity to engage with the rural poor and enlist their support by helping them enrol. In the state, ground level political mobilisations cannot thus be ignored in explaining this process. Furthermore, senior officials in the bureaucracy point out that since lower level bureaucracy increasingly comprise members of lower castes due to effective implementation of affirmative action policies, they are in a better position to respond to ground level issues in terms of implementation and ensuring better reach among the poorer sections.

The state is also the first to include persons with physical and mental disabilities in MGNREGA work with reduced work norms. While key informants cite the role of a toplevel official in pushing this change, the official was again responding to feedback from the lower level officials on the need to open up employment to this marginalised group. At present, the state is also taking advantage of the call for convergence among various rural welfare schemes to take up projects with significant material components. The state, however, was relatively late in doing this, compared to Rajasthan, as the officials perceived the programme in the initial phases as more an employment generating one. While there are no systematic studies looking into the asset creation side of MGNREGA employment in the state, interviews with senior officials involved in implementing suggest instances of successes in creating rainwater harvesting structures. In one dry district, creation of ponds has led to reclamation of lands for cultivation. It is said that 12,000 ponds have been dug and handed over to the agricultural engineering department to deepen and broaden them with machinery. In the recently concluded elections, political parties campaigned with promises of increasing the number of days of employment to 150. This suggests that the culture of "public action" in the state has fed into innovations of this kind, despite the absence of formal civil society mobilisations. However, there are complaints that asset creation has not been given due importance, compared to states like Rajasthan, which may be due to a lack of active engagement by civil society groups, as it happened in Rajasthan. In Tamil Nadu, according to key informants, allowing cultivation on private lands can lead to negative political fall-out in a context of growing divide between the land owning OBCs and MBCs and SC agricultural labourers. Hence, the state did not extend the MGNREGA work on private lands in the initial years.

5.2. PDS in Tamil Nadu and Rajasthan

Even though the MGNREGA implementation in the two states exhibit differences, the variations are much more acute in the case of the PDS. In the earlier discussion, we saw that the incidence of PDS consumption of rice was much higher in rural (89.1%) and urban (66.6%) areas of Tamil Nadu when compared to rural (0.8%) and urban (0.8%) areas in Rajasthan. According to Dreze and Khera (2015), leakages from the PDS were much higher in Rajasthan (60.9%) than in Tamil Nadu (11.9%). While the PDS in Tamil Nadu contributed to reduce the poverty gap index (using the Tendulkar line) by 61.3%, in Rajasthan, it contributed to only 11.7% (Dreze and Khera 2013). What can explain this difference?

Food has been central to politics in Tamil Nadu, with efforts to provide mid-day meals to school children beginning even in the colonial period. Offer of subsidised food grains has been part of the politics of the state for over half a century, and this found its way into creating a well-functioning PDS in the state. In the domain of PDS in Tamil Nadu, the key institution involved in implementation was the Tamil Nadu Civil Supplies Corporation (TNCSC) started in 1972 with the purpose of procuring, storing and distributing essential commodities in the state. It is linked to over 33,000 FPS that distribute food items to citizens and to godowns for storage, and to private dealers as well for procuring certain items like kerosene. 8 An important aspect of PDS in the state is the dominance of cooperatives in running these FPS, with more than 90% being run by them apart from the ones run by the TNCSC and SHG – promoted by the Tamil Nadu Women's Development Corporation. At present, extensive use of information and communication technologies allow for close monitoring of the distribution systems and has brought down leakages considerably. A combination of mobilisation around quantity and quality of supplies under the PDS and the state's response by way of creating better institutional architecture to reduce leakages, has led to the programme being a highly effective one. The state introduced a universal PDS by removing the APL/BPL distinctions in entitlements and expanded the range of commodities supplied through the PDS to lentils, spices and cooking oil.

In the context of Rajasthan's long tryst with droughts, one would expect that there would be strong state intervention in the distribution of food grains through the PDS, similar to public works programmes. However, even during drought years, like in 1986–87, the NSSO data shows that incidence of PDS use was low at less than 9% (Sagar 2000). Moreover, food insecurity is transitory in Rajasthan and animal husbandry ensures some degree of livelihood security (Sagar 2000).

Importantly, unlike in the case of Tamil Nadu where a long history of electoral mobilisation around food has driven the process, in Rajasthan, it was the CSOs, social movements and judicial intervention that played a part. But the PDS in the state has been undermined by corrupt practices. In 2009, Justice Wadhwa's committee submitted its

⁸ http://www.tncsc.tn.gov.in/html/pds.htm accessed on 11 July 2016.

report on the PDS in Rajasthan, where they found that it was mired in rampant diversion of food grains, existence of a large number of ghost ration cards, low level of accountability, inadequate vigilance mechanisms, poor computerisation and problems in transportation of food grains. As the government does not cover the entire transportation expenses, cooperative societies, which undertake wholesale distribution, indulge in various cost cutting measures like not employing labour to weigh the grains. The committee found high prevalence of exclusion and inclusion errors, as outdated surveys conducted in 1997 in rural areas and in 2003 in urban areas were used for exclusion and inclusion. The committee also found that as the commission paid to dealers was not adequate, it encouraged them to resort to unethical practices. As nearly 90% of the FPS are private dealers, unlike in the case of Tamil Nadu, they have a free run of the PDS. In order to reduce leakages, technology in the form of point of sale (PoS) machines have been introduced, though there have been several reports of it being dysfunctional in Rajasthan, which leads to denial of ration (Interview with Nikhil Dey, April 2016).

A group discussion with activists associated with the MKSS on 23 April 2016, highlighted five major reasons for poor performance of the PDS in Rajasthan. First, the BPL/APL distinction divided people and there was no collective unity in mobilising for entitlements. Second, the government introduced arbitrary exclusion and inclusion criteria. Third, eliminating people from the list is easy but adding them is difficult. Fourth, the introduction of technology like PoS machines gave dealers an excuse to cite problems with the machine to avoid distributing grains. Finally, political understanding in Rajasthan is supposed to be relatively low when compared to a state like Kerala.

6. Some Inferences

This paper mapped the evolution and outcomes of two of India's most comprehensive poverty reduction strategies, the MGNREGA and the PDS, with a special focus on the factors that have shaped them over time and across regions. In doing so, we stress the importance of a few institutions in incentivising the implementation of these programmes. First is the institution of electoral democracy; competitive politics means that parties attempt to capture the electoral imagination through promises of new welfare programmes, particularly poverty reduction programmes. However, it must be mentioned that despite such incentives, it may not necessarily lead to radical or structural reforms, such as land reforms. Rather, given the elite bias of most political parties, the incentives are translated into specific welfare enhancing or poverty reduction programmes that do not engage adequately with more 'durable' structures of poverty. An increase in income inequality in post-reform India accompanied by a growth in scope and range of poverty alleviation measures, therefore, best characterise the evolution of the social welfare regime in India. Importantly, employment generation, one of the two major programmes discussed here, was launched during a period that generated fewer jobs per unit output than ever before.

Nevertheless, political parties are varied and draw their sources of power from different social and economic groups. The constellation of interests shapes the variations in political commitment to investments in social welfare, and this explains not only the shifts over time in such commitment but, more importantly, explain differences across regions. Based on a detailed study of the experiences of two sub-national regions, we sought to

http://www.prsindia.org/uploads/media/Food%20Security/Justice%20Wadhwa%20Committee%20Report%20on%20PDS.pdf accessed on 1 November 2016.

demonstrate the importance of regional political economy in shaping incentives for the dominant political parties to invest in poverty reduction measures.

We also highlight the role of judicial and civil society activism that has sought to use the judicial route to pressure the government to implement certain programmes. Using the guarantees of the Constitution as a normative standard to evaluate state action and compel the state to take certain redistributive measures, this institution has played an important role in pressurising governments to implement key programmes. Such action has been primarily responsible for the emergence of a series of rights-based legislations for poverty reduction, including the MGNREGA and the NFSA. Such pressures, however, do not necessarily ensure effective implementation. It is here that the public or collective action is critical to translation of legislative measures into actually enforceable interventions. The paper has stressed this aspect through the sub-national cases that have witnessed divergent trajectories of centrally legislated poverty reduction measures. A related point concerns the efficacy of rights-based legislations in a context where the judicial infrastructure is inadequate to actually ensure that the state fulfils its obligations. In the absence of such judicial capacity, and in the absence of institutional complementarities such as strong political mobilisation, rights-based measures may not be effective.

Third is the continued salience of traditional political parties and politics in driving the process. As Harriss (2005, 2007) argued, unlike in the case of Latin America where new collectivities have gained prominence, conventional political parties continue to be the primary route for making claims in India. In the case of Rajasthan, for example, despite the presence of a strong civil society movement such as the MKSS, inadequate support from the political class, among other factors, has dampened the demand for MGNREGA related employment. Furthermore, in the case of PDS, political corruption and collaboration between local political elites and private dealers have undermined the possibilities of reducing leakages in the state. Tamil Nadu, on the other hand, despite the absence of a visible "new civil society", has delivered better on account of its long history of lower-class mobilisation by its two main political parties and competition between the two to deliver welfare.

Technological innovation too has been critical to better implement welfare programmes. There are several instances where issues of leakages and corruption have been addressed without necessarily encouraging collective action. It has also been used to undermine resistance from local elites. In the case of Andhra Pradesh, for example, sensing that a complete decentralised model will not work, the leaders decided to adopt a top-down model, and use online tracking in real time and mobile interface to monitor attendance in case of the MGNREGA workers. Taking data entry to the lowest level allowed them to undermine the influence of local elites. While this may enhance efficacy, the possibility of such measures depoliticising and technocratising poverty reduction is ever present. However, this is to not deny the possibility that better implementation, in turn, may allow for new political articulations. An associated factor that emerges to be critical in better implementation is administrative capacity. It has been recognised that Tamil Nadu, which has had a long tradition of efficiently administering social protection schemes, has the operational bandwidth to implement such programmes (Bonner *et al.* 2012).

The paper also highlights the need for a more local-sensitive approaches to policy design, as opposed to a one-size-fits-all approach, particularly in the context of the PDS. By emphasising distribution of rice and wheat, it may lead to perverse incentives both in the domain of production and consumption. The extension of water intensive rice cultivation in water resource poor regions, due to unsustainable extraction of ground water, illustrates

the same. At the consumption end, the NFSA, as it stands now, is believed to subvert normal consumption as it incentivises farmers to shift to cereal production, due to MSP incentives, and emphasises calories rather than food diversity (Interview with Sonalde Desai, March 2016). One reason cited by key informants for poor public action in the domain of the PDS in Rajasthan may have to do with a mismatch between the dietary preferences of the people and the food grains distributed by the PDS. More importantly, the presence of malnutrition, even in a state like Tamil Nadu, highlights the need to reorient PDS to ensure better nutrition security. While such criticisms have also led to demands for replacing such programmes with direct cash transfers, we have sought to highlight other positive developmental outcomes emanating from employment generation programmes or food transfers. Apart from the generation of employment, the MGNREGA has also contributed to generation of productive assets and, more importantly, the renewal and installation of water harvesting structures and flood control mechanisms that are critical to sustained rural development. The MGNREGA has also undermined traditional relations of power and has enabled a new kind of collective action, particularly among women and other marginalised members. In the case of the PDS, a survey showed that people preferred getting food grains rather than cash in regions where leakages are low, and the distribution system works better. Demand from civil society organisations to use the PDS to reorient consumption practices and agro-food systems are to be noted in this regard. Therefore, it opens up opportunities to reorient agricultural production to ensure more sustainable food production practices. In this context, it also remains to be seen how long India will be protected by the "peace clause" of the World Trade Organisation (WTO), which eventually seeks to limit farm subsidies to 10% of the aggregate production.

References

- Aiyar, Yamini, and Michael Walton. 2014. *Rights, Accountability and Citizenship: Examining India's Emerging Welfare State*. http://www.accountabilityindia.in/sites/default/files/rights_based_welfare_state_aiyar_walton.pdf
- Barrientos, Armando and David Hulme. 2009. "Social Protection for the Poor and Poorest in Developing Countries: Reflections on a Quiet Revolution: Commentary." *Oxford Development Studies* 37, no. 4: 439–456.
- Bhowmik, Indraneel, and Pritam Bose. 2015. "Efficiency and Impact of MGNREGS in Tripura." *Social Change and Development* 12, no. 1: 1–19.
- Bonner, Kim., Jennifer Daum, Jessie Duncan, Ellen Dinsmore, Kari Fuglesten, Leslie Lai, Julian Lee, Katherine Manchester, Feker Tadesse, and Robert Quinn. 2012. MGNREGA Implementation: A Cross-State Comparison. <a href="http://www.india.nu/intension/http://www.india.nu/intension/intension/http://www.india.nu/intension/http://www.
- Chopra, Deepta. 2015. Political Commitment in India's Social Policy Implementation: Shaping the Performance of MGNREGA. http://www.effective-states.org/working-paper-50/
- Dev, S. M. 1996. "Experience of India's (Maharashtra) Employment Guarantee Scheme: Lessons for Development Policy." *Development Policy Review* 14, no. 3: 227–254.
- Drèze, Jean. 2011. "Employment Guarantee and the Right to Work." In *The Battle for Employment Guarantee*, edited by Reetika Khera. New Delhi: OUP.
- Drèze, Jean. and Amartya Sen. 2013. *An Uncertain Glory: India and Its Contradictions*. London: Allen Lane.
- Drèze, Jean. and Reetika Khera, 2013. "Rural Poverty and the Public Distribution System." *Economic and Political Weekly* 48, no. 45/46: 55–60.
- Dutta, P., R. Mugai, M. Ravallion, and D. van de Walle, "Does India's Employment Guarantee Scheme Guarantee Employment?" Economic and Political Weekly 47 no. 16 (2012): 55–64.
- Esteves T, K. V. Rao, B. Sinha, S. S. Roy, B. B. Rai, I. B. Rao, N. Sharma, S. Rao, V. Patil, I. K. Murthy. 2013. *Environmental Benefits and Vulnerability Reduction Through Mahatma Gandhi National Rural Employment Guarantee Scheme: A Synthesis Report*. Ministry of Rural Development, Government of India and Deutsche Gesellschaft für Internationale Zusammenarbeit (GIZ). https://www.giz.de/en/downloads/giz2013-en-environmental-benefits-vulnerability-reduction-india.pdf
- Ferguson, J. 2015. *Give a Man a Fish: Reflections on the New Politics of Distribution*. Durham, North Carolina: Duke University Press.
- Government of India. 2005. *The Mahatma Gandhi National Rural Employment Guarantee Act*, Ministry of Law and Justice, New Delhi.
- Harriss John. 1999. "Comparing Political Regimes across Indian States: A Preliminary Essay." *Economic and Political Weekly* 34 no. 48: 3367–3377.
- Harriss John. 2005. "Political Participation, Representation and the Urban Poor: Findings from Research in Delhi", *Economic and Political Weekly* 12 (March): 1041–54.

- Harriss John. 2007. "Antinomies of Empowerment: Observations on Civil Society, Politics and Urban Governance in India", *Economic and Political Weekly* 30 (June): 2716–24.
- Harriss, John. 2013. "Audacious Reforms? India's New Rights Agenda: An Introduction." *Pacific Affairs* 86, no. 3: 561–568.
- Hickey, S. 2007. "Conceptualising the Politics of Social Protection in Africa". BWPI, Working paper 4.
- Hirway, Indira, and Piet Terhal. 1994. *Towards Employment Guarantee in India*. New Delhi: Sage Publications.
- Jadhav, V. 2006. "Elite Politics and Maharashtra's Employment Guarantee Scheme." *Economic and Political Weekly* 41, no. 50: 5157–5162.
- Jenkins, R., and J. Manor. 2017. *Politics and the Right to Work: India's National Rural Employment Guarantee Act*. Hyderabad: Orient Blackswan.
- Joshi, A., and Moore, M. 2000. "Enabling Environments: Do Anti-Poverty Programmes Mobilise the Poor? *Journal of Development Studies* 37, no. 1: 25–56.
- Khera, R. 2011. "Revival of the Public Distribution System: Evidence and Explanations." *Economic and Political Weekly* xlvi, no. 44 and 45: 36–50.
- Khera, R. 2016. "Digging Holes, Filling Them Up." *The Indian Express*, February 3, 2016.
- Labour Bureau. 2014. Report on Employment Unemployment Survey 2013-14. Chandigarh: Ministry of Labour and Employment.
- Maiorano, D. 2014. "The Politics of the Mahatma Gandhi National Rural Employment Guarantee Act in Andhra Pradesh." *World Development* 58 (April): 95–105.
- Ministry of Rural Development, Government of India. 2012. MGNREGA Sameeksha: An Anthology of Research Studies on the Mahatma Gandhi National Rural Employment Guarantee Act, 2005, 2006–2012, edited and compiled by Mihir Shah, Neelakshi Mann and Varad Pande. New Delhi: Orient BlackSwan.
- Mooij, J. 2014. "Redressing Poverty and Enhancing Social Development: Trends in India's Welfare Regime." *In Persistence of Poverty in India*, edited by N. Gooptu and J. Parry, 146–172. New Delhi: Social Science Press.
- Mooji, J. 1998 "The Political Economy of the Public Distribution System in India." *Journal of Peasant Studies* 25, no. 2: 77–101.
- Moore, M., and V. Jadhav. 2006. "The Politics and Bureaucratics of Rural Public Works: Maharashtra's Employment Guaranteed Scheme". *Journal of Development Studies* 42, no. 8: 1271–1300.
- Naraynan, S. 2016. "MNREGA and its Assets." *Ideas for India*. http://www.ideasforindia.in/topics/poverty-inequality/mnrega-and-its-assets.html
- National Sample Survey Office. 2012. *Survey on MGNREGA*, 2009–12. New Delhi: Government of India.
- National Sample Survey Office. 2014. 68th Round Employment and Unemployment Situation in India 2011–12. New Delhi: Government of India.
- National Sample Survey Office. 2015. 68th Round Public Distribution System and other Sources of Household Consumption 2011-12. New Delhi: Government of India.

- National Sample Survey Organisation. 2001. 55th Round Consumption of Some Important Commodities in India 1999–2000. New Delhi: Government of India.
- Papola T. S. 2013. Role of Labour Regulation and Reforms in India: Country Case Study on Labour Market Segmentation, Employment Sector. Working Paper No. 147, Geneva: International Labour Organization.
- Patel, S. 2006. "Empowerment, Co-option, and Domination: Politics of Maharashtra's Employment Guarantee Scheme." *Economic and Political Weekly* 41, no. 50: 5126–5132.
- Ranaware, K., U. Das, A. Kulkarni, and S. Narayanan. 2015. "MGNREGA Works and their Impacts: A Study of Maharashtra." *Economic and Political Weekly* 50, no. 13.
- Rudra, N. and S. Haggard. 2005. "Globalization, Democracy, and Effective Welfare Spending in the Developing World." *Comparative Political Studies* 38, no. 9: 1015–1049.
- Ruparelia. S. 2013. "India's New Rights Agenda: Genesis, Promises, Risks." *Pacific Affairs* 86, no. 3: 569–590.
- Sagar, Vidya. 2000. "The Public Distribution System and Security in a Region of Large Agricultural Instability: Rajasthan." In *Public Support for Food Security the Public Distribution System in India*, edited by N. Krishnaji and T.N. Krishnan, 276–312. New Delhi: Sage Publications.
- Sood, A., P. Nath, and S. Ghosh. 2014. "Deregulating Capital, Regulating Labour: The Dynamics in the Manufacturing Centre in India." *Economic and Political Weekly* 49, no. 26–27: 58–68.
- Srinivasan, V. 2010. "Understanding Public Services in Tamil Nadu." PhD diss., Syracuse University.
- Wyatt, A. K. J. 2013. "Combining Clientelist and Programmatic Politics in Tamil Nadu, South India." *Commonwealth and Comparative Politics* 51, no. 1: 27–55.